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PREFACE


It was every father’s nightmare. Your fourteen-year-old daughter, your little girl, being sexually assaulted at school. In the girls’ bathroom. By a boy wearing a skirt.


Horrific. But in any sane environment, the consequences would have been swift. The boy would have been prosecuted, convicted, and imprisoned. The criminal justice system would have worked, if not as a deterrent, then at least as a punishment.


But Loudoun County, Virginia, was no longer a sane environment. Here, a group of left-wing ideologues had taken over the local public school system, turning their town into the kind of woke experiment that was being replicated in radical school districts across the United States. When the school board got word of this horrible assault, they covered it up, refusing to prosecute the boy. Instead, they transferred him to another school, where, to the surprise of nobody rational, he assaulted yet another young girl.


Why did the system fail? We know why. Because the crime was inconvenient for the prevailing political narrative. That narrative—the one that says gender doesn’t exist, and that children can switch between male and female at will—was more important to these zealots than the physical safety of the children in the care of Loudoun County Public Schools. Boys dressed as girls never—never!—commit sexual assaults. And they certainly don’t commit them in the girls’ bathroom, a place that the new leftist elite insisted should be available to anyone who “identified” as a girl. It didn’t matter if the person in question had just begun identifying as a girl yesterday, or even if he still had a beard and male reproductive organs.


The father of the first girl assaulted, a plumber named Scott Smith, was devastated and outraged. You would be, too, if the same thing happened to your daughter or the daughter of someone you love. Shortly after the incident, Smith went to his daughter’s school to try to make sure justice was served. When he got there, he found out that the school’s principal had no intention of taking disciplinary action against the boy or even of calling the police. This, understandably, outraged Smith even further.


By the end of that day, the police were finally called to the school. But not to arrest the boy who had sexually violated Smith’s daughter. Rather, the police were called on Scott Smith himself. The school’s principal called the police, according to an excellent investigative report on the incident published in the Daily Wire, because he was “making a scene” about his daughter’s assault.1


As the weeks went on, anger about various policies in Loudoun County grew. Aside from rumors about the sexual assault of Smith’s daughter, parents had recently learned that much of what their children were being taught in school was absolute nonsense. During the pandemic, when Loudoun County kids were forced to learn remotely, many of their parents had peered over their shoulders to see lessons on white guilt, systemic racism, and gender studies on the screens of their iPads and laptops. During a few contentious school board meetings, many of these parents had made their concerns known, leading to several high-profile arguments in public. The next meeting, Smith learned, would be held on June 22.


During the meeting, the school board was in full defense mode. The board members knew that parents were concerned about the school’s open-door bathroom policy and the potential for sexual assaults that came with it. They also knew that these fears had been realized just a few weeks earlier, when Smith’s daughter had been assaulted. But as the concerned parents came to the microphone (more than 250 had signed up to speak that day), the members of the school board lied about the incident time and time again.


When Beth Barts, a school board member who had clashed with Loudoun County parents in the past, had the chance to address these serious concerns, she dismissed them, almost mocking anyone who would be concerned about such things.


“Our students do not need to be protected,” she said. “They are not in danger.”


Turning to another member of the school board, she asked whether assaults occurred in bathrooms and locker rooms.


“To my knowledge,” interjected Scott Ziegler, the superintendent of Loudoun County Public Schools, “we don’t have any record of assaults occurring in our restrooms.”


This was a lie, as Ziegler knew and had admitted in an email to the board members on the day of Smith’s daughter’s assault.2 Perhaps that is why he quoted Time magazine for the rest of his answer. The magazine had printed a report the previous year claiming that “the data was simply not playing out that transgender students were more likely to assault cisgender students in restrooms.” Ziegler then went on to say that “the predator transgender student or person simply does not exist.”


Of course, Ziegler knew full well that at least one “predatory transgender student” did, in fact, exist, and that the school board was protecting him (or her, or them, or xim, or xer). Scott Smith, who sat in the audience that evening with his wife, Jess, knew it too.


For the next hour or so, parents from both sides of the cultural divide took to the microphone and made speeches. Some parents demanded to know exactly how many of these assaults had occurred; others screamed wildly that anyone who raised such concerns was a bigot, a sexist, and a racist, too.


All the while, Scott Smith sat quietly, knowing that if the school board had its way, the story of what had happened to his daughter would soon be buried to serve a dishonest woke narrative. At some point during the commotion, a woman came up to him and said hello. She wore a rainbow t-shirt. Smith’s wife said she recognized her, and even believed they were friends. When this woman, who would later turn out to be a fierce left-wing ideologue, asked why the Smiths had come to the meeting, they told her what had happened to their daughter: the assault, the cover-up, and all the details in between.


The woman grew upset, even angry. Through gritted teeth, she said, “That’s not what happened.”


This, apparently, was the breaking point for Scott Smith, and understandably so. For weeks, he’d been hearing that what had happened to his daughter was not only not a big deal, but that it hadn’t actually occurred at all. For a moment, Smith raised his voice and grew agitated. The woman looked at his t-shirt, which advertised his plumbing business, and declared that she was going to “ruin the business on social media.”


Smith argued back at her, although not for long.


Before he knew what was happening, Smith felt his arm being jerked by a police officer who’d been watching the exchange from the far side of the room. Alarmed, Smith yanked his hand away, and the officer came at him with his full weight. Soon, they were wrestling on the ground, and the whole thing was being filmed by cameras. Images of Smith, his pants half down and his t-shirt up pulled up over his stomach, would soon go out to millions of people on news networks all over the world. It was just one more in a line of horrible indignities that he had been forced to endure.


While her husband was being tackled and thrown to the ground, Jess Smith yelled out, “My child was raped at school, and this is what happens!”


Sadly, almost no one could hear her amid the clamor that ensued after her husband was assaulted. Instead, they watched as her husband, who had come to the school board meeting simply to listen to the people who were covering up his daughter’s sexual assault, was again treated like a criminal by the police force of Loudoun County. All the while, the boy who had raped their daughter was walking free, preparing to assault another young girl at his new school.


In the following days, the image of Smith being tackled by police became emblematic of a war that had raged for a long time—a war between parents who demanded to know exactly what was going on at their children’s schools and arrogant school officials, nearly all of whom had been indoctrinated by woke ideology, who attempted to hide it from them. Across the country, elected Democrats on school boards were facing thousands of enraged parents on a host of issues: sexual assaults on campus, woke bathroom policies, Critical Race Theory, and more. These parents were angry, and rightfully so.


In a democratic system, when people are angry, elected officials are supposed to listen. These elected officials don’t always have to agree on the substance—that’s why we have elections—but the First Amendment to our Constitution explicitly protects the right of the people to “petition their government for the redress of grievances.”


But democracy is messy. Listening to your constituents can be hard, and if they’re angry, it can be unpleasant. For the Democrats on school boards across the country, there was a simpler solution. Rather than listening, they could simply use law enforcement to intimidate parents who disagreed with them into silence. In cases that involved parents like Scott Smith who refused to be intimidated, they could shut them down by force.


But there was only so much they could do at the local level.


So, shortly after the incident in Loudoun County, the National School Boards Association (NSBA) enlisted the Biden White House as their enforcers. They talked with political operatives at the White House who shared their warped view of the world, and with input from those operatives they drafted a letter to President Biden.


In the letter, the NSBA said that public schools and education leaders in the United States were “under an immediate threat.”3 They claimed that there was “a growing number of threats of violence and acts of intimidation occurring across the nation,” and said “immediate assistance” was “required to protect our students, school board members, and educators who are susceptible to acts of violence affecting interstate commerce because of threats to their districts, families, and personal safety.” The line about interstate commerce was added so that the Department of Justice would have justification to take action at the federal level, because the Constitution gives the federal government the power to regulate interstate commerce.


Later in the letter, the NSBA wrote, “as these acts of malice, violence, and threats against public school officials have increased, the classification of these heinous actions could be the equivalent to a form of domestic terrorism and hate crimes.”4 In the list of these “acts of malice, violence, and threats against public school officials,” they included numerous incidents of parents getting fed up at school board meetings, many of which included nothing more than raised voices or peaceful demonstrations. The NSBA suggested that the Biden Justice Department use the Patriot Act, a controversial Bush-era law meant for the pursuit and punishment of terrorists, to go after these parents.


Early in the list, of course, was the case of Scott Smith, the man who had come to a school board meeting in peace only to be tackled by police at the behest of the school board itself. In the eyes of the Biden administration and their political allies, this father should now be classified as a domestic terrorist.


The NSBA letter was sent to the Biden Justice Department on September 29, 2021. Now, normally, the Biden Justice Department is glacially slow and often defiantly unresponsive. In 2021 alone, I sent seventeen letters to the Justice Department in an attempt to hold them to account. As one of the more senior members of the Senate Judiciary Committee, I have the responsibility—as does the full committee—to conduct oversight of the DOJ. I’ve sent multiple letters demanding answers on a variety of issues. On June 7, 2021, I sent a letter demanding to know why so few people who participated in violent riots during the summer of 2020 were prosecuted or punished for their crimes; a few days later, I joined a letter written by Senator Chuck Grassley that sought information about how sensitive taxpayer records were leaked to the media by the Internal Revenue Service. Also last year, I sent letters demanding information or action on the protection of rights of conscience for pro-life doctors, the need to prosecute Dr. Anthony Fauci’s multiple lies under oath to Congress, the public disclosure of John Durham’s report on the FBI’s Crossfire Hurricane investigation, and many other important issues.


As Republicans are currently in the minority in the Senate, I do not currently have the ability to issue a subpoena or coercive measure to compel answers from the DOJ. All I can do is ask nicely. For virtually all of these oversight letters, the DOJ delays weeks or months; then, finally, the response is little more than a form letter. They routinely dodge and deflect; the DOJ responses say, in effect, “Thanks for your letter. So sorry, but we’re not going to answer your questions.”


Their defiance is not purely partisan. DOJ often ignores Senate Democrats as well. Senator Sheldon Whitehouse, for instance, one of the most liberal Democrats on the Judiciary Committee, has railed against the Biden DOJ for its lack of response to questions from Congress.


“There is something going on over there,” he said, “that looks an awful lot like a formal policy not to answer our questions…. We are going to have to come to a proper resolution of this so that the oversight capacity of all of us as senators is not completely blunted by blockades in the executive branch.”5


To be sure, the Department of Justice has been slow under Republican presidents, too. It’s not uncommon to have a pile of unanswered letters from concerned senators sitting on a desk somewhere, especially when those letters have come from the opposing party. But the Biden Department of Justice has been substantially worse, elevating non-responsiveness to an art form. Their refusal to answer people who are tasked with overseeing them reflects their arrogance and unbridled hubris. They believe they are accountable to no one—not to members of Congress, and certainly not to the American people.


But when partisan politics demands it, the Biden Department of Justice can be lightning fast. Ergo, on October 4, 2021, just six days after they received the letter from the National School Boards Association, Attorney General Merrick Garland issued a formal memo addressed to the FBI and the criminal division of the Department of Justice. In it, Attorney General Garland said he was taking the incidents described in the memo seriously, and that the Justice Department would “use its authority and resources to discourage these threats, identify them when they occur, and prosecute them when appropriate.” He also directed the FBI to convene meetings with local leaders to “facilitate discussion of strategies for addressing threats against school administrators, board members, teachers, and staff” to open “dedicated lines of communication for threat reporting, assessment, and response.”


Shortly thereafter, Garland testified before the Judiciary Committee, and I took the opportunity to demand answers. Just a few weeks earlier, the boy who had sexually assaulted Scott Smith’s daughter in a public-school bathroom had been found guilty of a second count of sexual assault. According to local reports, he had lured another innocent girl into an empty classroom, where he proceeded to “hold her against her will and inappropriately touch her.”6 After he was convicted, the court ordered that he register as a sex offender for the rest of his life.


Yet Merrick Garland and the Biden Department of Justice still had the memo up on their website that labeled Scott Smith, the father of this sick boy’s first victim, as the problem, and potentially a domestic terrorist. They had not moved to edit or retract this memo or to send another one clarifying the false and offensive sentiments contained therein. The community of Loudoun County had taken notice. On October 26, for instance, hundreds of students participated in a walkout, many of them chanting “Loudoun County protects rapists.”


A few days before the Senate hearing was set to take place, Attorney General Garland had participated in an oversight hearing in the House of Representatives. Under questioning from representatives who were similarly outraged about the incident in Loudoun County and the Biden DOJ’s response to it, Garland had said that he “could not imagine any circumstance… where [parents of schoolchildren] would be labeled as domestic terrorists.”


Somehow, Garland had managed to get away with this non-answer in front of the House committee. I did not intend to let him do the same thing. Under the terms of his memo, the Biden Department of Justice was attempting to treat concerned parents as criminals, and he was the one directly responsible. Garland had explicitly referred to innocent parents such as Scott Smith as “potential threats.” Given that even a cursory glance at the facts of the case would have revealed this to be untrue, Garland was either misinformed about the case or lying about it. I didn’t know which was worse, but I intended to find out.


I decided not to begin my line of questioning with the usual pleasantries. I had done so at Attorney General Garland’s confirmation hearing, during which he agreed with me that it would be “totally inappropriate for the Department [of Justice] to target any individual because of their politics.”7 Now that he had gone directly against his own admonition, I figured it was best to get down to business.


I began by asking Garland how many incidents of violence were cited in the letter written to President Biden by the National School Boards Association—a letter which, according to his testimony under oath in front of the House committee, had been the entire basis for his decision to write a memo directing the FBI to investigate and target parents as if they were domestic terrorists.


He said he didn’t know, so I told him that the answer was twenty. When I asked how many were actually “violent,” as he had claimed in his letter—meaning someone had engaged in actual physical violence, beyond saying angry words or making gestures that were displeasing to Democrats—he fumbled again for an answer. I asked whether he or anyone on his staff did any independent research into the inflammatory claims in the school board association’s letter—a letter for which the NSBA had subsequently issued a lengthy apology, admitting there was “no justification for some of the language included.” Garland stammered again, and it became clear that neither he nor anyone on his staff had done any research at all.


As I pointed out during my questioning, Attorney General Garland began his career as a law clerk to Justice William Brennan. He’d also had many law clerks during his two-decade career as a judge. If he had come into the office of a Supreme Court justice during his time as a clerk claiming that there was a “disturbing pattern of violence,” and then cited nothing but a shoddy memo written by a partisan advocacy group as evidence, he’d have been fired on the spot (and the United States of America may have been better for it). This, as I pointed out, was yet another case of the Justice Department going after the Biden administration’s political enemies in a way that was sinister, wrong, and, as if the rest weren’t bad enough, downright sloppy.


In the end, Garland admitted that when Scott Smith expressed his displeasure with the way he’d been treated by the school board in Loudoun County, his outburst was protected by the First Amendment. Of course, the attorney general is supposed to study the facts of the case before sending the FBI out to investigate parents like Smith. But this was not law enforcement; instead, Garland and the Biden DOJ were using the machinery of the Justice Department to attack their political enemies.


When there are credible threats of actual violence, law enforcement can (and should) act. It doesn’t matter what party the person making the threats is affiliated with. But when there is peaceful speech—even loud, passionate, and angry speech—law enforcement has no authority to silence American citizens.


Merrick Garland knows that. He explicitly agreed with that during both his confirmation hearing and my questioning over Loudoun County.


But for both Garland and Joe Biden, politics was more important. It still is. The Biden White House wanted to satisfy its Democrat stakeholders, and so the DOJ moved with alacrity in responding to the ridiculous (and false) letter written by the National School Boards Association. The DOJ was more than happy to enlist the FBI to frighten, intimidate, and silence parents who had the temerity to disagree with their elected school boards.


The travesty in Loudoun County, and the Biden DOJ’s complicity in the cover-up, had major political consequences. Parents across Virginia were outraged. In recent years, Virginia has become a reliably blue state. In the 2020 election, Joe Biden won it by 10 percent of the vote; four years earlier, Hillary Clinton won it by 5 percent. But when the far-left Biden regime began meddling in the affairs of parents, that changed.


The Democrat running for governor in Virginia was Terry McAuliffe, an unabashed partisan who was more than happy to go along with his party’s platform of outright contempt for parents. During a debate on September 29, 2021, he said, “I don’t think parents should be telling schools what they should teach,” setting off a firestorm of controversy among families in Virginia. Even the Washington Post admitted that the line was probably the “last hurrah” for the candidate.8 Then, in the closing days of the campaign, McAuliffe appeared alongside Randi Weingarten, the arrogant and sanctimonious leader of one of our nation’s largest teachers’ unions. Over the past year, Weingarten had done enormous damage to students all over the nation, leading the charge for extended school closings long after they were remotely justifiable.


But moms and dads in Virginia, quite understandably, did not like being called domestic terrorists. They didn’t appreciate the Biden DOJ sending the G-men to go after soccer moms and concerned fathers. On election night, to the shock of political pundits everywhere, voters in Virginia elected Glenn Youngkin, a Republican, as governor.


I endorsed Youngkin early. He’s a friend, and the man I believed was most capable of leading Virginia out of the crisis it had found itself in thanks to a decade of liberal leadership. During the campaign, I spent two days barnstorming the state of Virginia with Glenn to help him win the race. That Republicans could win in blue Virginia, as well as in school board races across the country, augurs well for the likely electoral results in 2022.


Scott Smith, meanwhile, had traveled a Kafkaesque journey. From having his daughter brutally assaulted to seeing the school board deny it ever happened, to having major figures in the corporate press call him a liar and being forcefully thrown to the ground and arrested, to having the attorney general of the United States send the FBI after him as a domestic terrorist, nothing about the last year had been easy for him.


Fortunately, his name has since been cleared thanks to several hardworking investigative reporters who were willing to look into his story, find the truth, and publish it, particularly Luke Rosiak at the Daily Wire. Thanks to the work of these real journalists, Scott Smith’s story is known. Of course, the corporate media was utterly AWOL. The Washington Post, whose motto is “Democracy dies in darkness,” couldn’t be bothered to cover the story. Gone are the days of Woodward and Bernstein aggressively tracking down and reporting on government corruption and abuse of power. Today, apparently, the Post has turned its erstwhile motto into a perverse mission statement. It took small conservative outlets to do the real work of journalism required to expose the truth.


But that doesn’t change the fact that this courageous father was targeted by the Department of Justice and singled out as a potential domestic terrorist threat by his government—all for the crime of showing up at a public meeting and attempting to defend his wronged child.


And it all happened because under President Biden, the justice system—and justice itself—has been corrupted.


That’s not the way it’s supposed to work.










INTRODUCTION THE WAY IT’S SUPPOSED TO WORK



Justice is blind. She wields a sword and holds a set of scales. The sword represents the terrible punishment government can inflict, up to and including taking a human being’s life. The scale stands for fairness, a careful measuring of the facts and the evidence in any given case.


But neither one of these potent symbols matters as much as the blindfold over Lady Justice’s eyes. Her eyes work fine, of course, but she chooses not to see. Race, gender, wealth, privilege—Justice should see none of them.


The same goes for party and ideology. The Department of Justice should not be Republican or Democrat. It should be utterly apolitical, and the attorney general should enforce the law fairly and justly regardless of party affiliation.


Justice without the blindfold is a vengeful angel wielding power as a weapon to intimidate and oppress, not the guardian on whom we all rely in our hours of need. Lord Acton famously observed, “Power tends to corrupt, and absolute power corrupts absolutely.” Our nation’s founding fathers understood this principle, and for that reason the Constitution was designed, as Jefferson put it, as chains to bind the mischief of government.


When America came into being, the notion of blind justice was a radical concept. Indeed, for much of human history, government had been a means of exercising unchecked power. The vast majority of people who have lived on planet Earth have lived under monarchial rule. From ancient civilizations to medieval times to well into the nineteenth century, kings and queens and czars and emperors have ruled mankind.


English philosopher Thomas Hobbes posited that government power—the “Leviathan,” as he dubbed it—was necessary because without it, the world would descend into chaos. The state of nature without some kind of government, in his words, is “nasty, brutish, and short.” Marauding outlaws (think Mad Max in the Thunderdome) make for a miserable existence, and so instead monarchy provided order and stability.


Religion was frequently enlisted in support of monarchy. From Samuel anointing first Saul and then David with oil to Aztec rulers imbued with their own divinity and popes crowning kings across the centuries, the most common justification for a ruler’s power was that God gave him that authority. Sovereignty came from God to the monarch directly.


Later, when the notion of “rights” emerged, they began as beneficences from the king to the people. They were given like crumbs from his table to the subjects being ruled. But just as rights were given by grace, they could be taken away by whim.


The framers of our Constitution upended all of that. Revolutionaries in the literal and figurative sense, they carried guns and bayonets, but they also carried even more potent weapons: new ideas that still form the bedrock of our nation.


Our framers’ moral and philosophical revolution turned on two radical concepts. First, that rights come from God rather than from a monarch. And second, that sovereignty in turn comes from the people.


Madison, Jefferson, Franklin, and Adams all studied the work of English philosopher John Locke, who had argued powerfully for the “natural rights” of man, specifically the rights to life, liberty, and property. Every human being, Locke argued, had those rights because we are created in the image of God.


Hence, Jefferson penned those foundational words in the Declaration of Independence: “We hold these truths to be self-evident: that all men are created equal, and that they are endowed by their Creator with certain unalienable rights, that among those are life, liberty, and the pursuit of happiness.”


America was founded on the idea that our rights come from our Creator, not from government.


And with that insight, the framers inverted the notion of sovereignty. Rather than flowing from God to king to people, sovereignty instead flows from God to the people and only then to the government. From the beginning, our founders understood that the true function of our government was to safeguard the rights of citizens. To that end, thirteen years after the Declaration of Independence, Congress passed the Judiciary Act of 1789, which set up the federal court system of the United States.


For the most part, our justice system was based on English Common Law, deriving its principles from documents such as the Magna Carta, the first major document to declare that there was effectively no difference between kings and their subjects, at least in the eyes of God. That, in turn, is reflected in the bedrock principle of American law that “no man is above the law.” For nearly a hundred years, these principles governed much of life in the United States. When justice is served properly, it protects the rights of all.


Tragically, for the first century of our nation’s history, many Americans’ rights were not protected. Women had only limited rights under law, and most African Americans were subjected to the horrific evil of slavery. In the eyes of the law, as reflected in the Supreme Court’s infamous Dred Scott decision, African Americans were deemed not to be people, but merely property. After America paid the price of unspeakable bloodshed, the Civil War, President Lincoln’s Emancipation Proclamation, and the Thirteenth, Fourteenth, and Fifteenth Amendments finally ended the abomination of slavery.


In the aftermath of the Civil War, our justice system faced an important test. Throughout the South, where hundreds of thousands of slaves had just been set free, roving bands of racist lunatics calling themselves the Ku Klux Klan made it their mission to keep African Americans oppressed, powerless, and out of public office. They did so through the use of horrible violence, often dragging African Americans out of their homes and hanging them from nearby trees. This horrific practice, known as “lynching,” soon became so common throughout the nation that newspapers didn’t bother reporting on every instance.


To respond to this grave threat, President Ulysses S. Grant—the man who had won the war for the Union and risen to the presidency shortly afterward—signed legislation forming the United States Justice Department, directing it to prosecute all members of the Ku Klux Klan to the fullest extent of the law. This, he reasoned, would set an example for anyone else who was thinking about donning robes and harassing innocent people of color. Over the next few months, Attorney General Amos T. Akerman and his army of lawyers at the Department of Justice crushed the Klan. Grant, like Lincoln before him, was a Republican. And the Klansmen were, almost without exception, Democrats.


In that time, according to a biography of President Grant, “federal grand juries, many interracial, brought 3,384 indictments against the KKK, resulting in 1,143 convictions. This conviction rate was even better than it sounded. The federal court system was burdened with cases and many federal judges, appointed before Grant, didn’t sympathize with the anti-Klan crusade.”1 But in the end, the law prevailed. By 1872, the Klan was a shadow of its former self, a display to all Americans of the massive power that the United States government could have when it acts in the interest of fairness, justice, and the people.


In 1933, President Franklin Delano Roosevelt greatly expanded the responsibilities of the Justice Department, charging it with functions of “prosecuting in the courts of the United States claims and demands by, and [offenses] against, the Government of the United States, and of defending claims and demands against the Government, and of supervising the work of United States attorneys, marshals, and clerks in connection therewith, now exercised by any agency or officer.”2


For almost a century, the Department of Justice mostly discharged its duties without fear or favor, bringing lawsuits against people who had violated the law. Although the president was formally in charge of the entire executive branch—of which the Department of Justice, as well as our nation’s intelligence agencies, are a part—it was generally accepted that the Department of Justice, like the Supreme Court, was not supposed to dabble in partisan politics. Throughout history, there have been exceptions, several of which we will deal with in the pages to come. When President Richard Nixon was beginning to feel the heat from lawmakers asking questions about his crimes during the Watergate scandal, for instance, he attempted to use the full weight of the executive branch to crush his enemies. Indeed, Nixon expressly directed his attorney general to commit multiple serious crimes before firing him in what became known as the Saturday Night Massacre.


This kind of corruption was also commonplace during the administration of President John F. Kennedy, who defied historical precedent when he selected his own brother Robert as his attorney general. Together, the Kennedy brothers waged war on their enemies from the White House and DOJ in a manner that was quite uncommon in the American system of government, another topic we’ll cover in this book.


But no president flouted the norms of judicial independence quite so brazenly as Barack Obama, who politicized and weaponized the Justice Department in a way that was directly contrary to over a century of tradition. In 2013, Attorney General Eric Holder described his role this way: “I’m still enjoying what I’m doing. There’s still work to be done. I’m still the president’s wingman, so I’m there with my boy.”3 Before Holder was nominated to be Obama’s attorney general, he had built a reputation for being a relatively nonpartisan prosecutor—someone with integrity who could carry out the duties of his office honestly. Unfortunately, his tenure as attorney general did enormous damage to that reputation.


This partisan tradition, unfortunately, has been revived by President Joe Biden, a man who has no problem with calling concerned parents domestic terrorists, or with attacking voting laws to try to prevent the voters from electing Republicans all over the country.


In order to understand these impulses toward enemy-hunting and partisan witch hunts, it’s important to review the history of presidents who have abused our justice system—the ones who attempted, and in some cases succeeded, in corrupting justice to suit their partisan goals.


We begin with Richard Milhous Nixon.










CHAPTER ONE ENEMIES



Before the Storm


On the morning of his daughter Tricia’s wedding, with four hundred guests about to arrive at the White House, Richard Nixon sat in the Oval Office with his chief of staff, H. R. Haldeman.


One of the most famous “hatchet men” in American politics, Haldeman had been with Nixon since the early 1960s. He’d stuck with Nixon through two failed campaigns—one for president in 1960, then another for governor of California in 1962. In that time, Haldeman had become well acquainted with the darker side of Nixon’s personality. Around the building, he was known semi-affectionately as the president’s “son of a bitch.” When there was a job that Nixon didn’t have the stomach to do himself—firing someone, for instance, or giving them direct orders that stretched the bounds of legality, and therefore shouldn’t come straight from the president of the United States—Haldeman was more than happy to step in.


By the end of his tenure as chief of staff, this tendency would land Haldeman, as well as dozens of other men in Nixon’s orbit, in prison.


But on that morning, June 12, 1971, the two men chatted idly, waiting for the storm clouds to pass. A light rain, which had been falling since before sunrise, had already delayed the outdoor wedding ceremony by about two hours. Despite several pleas from her father to move the whole event indoors to the East Room, Tricia Nixon had insisted on pushing the start time back until the sun came out. So, they waited—all four hundred friends and family members, many of whom had flown in from all over the country to see the president’s daughter get married in the Rose Garden. That evening, many of them would sleep in the White House, filling the dozen or so guest bedrooms of the building for the first time since Nixon had won the presidency in 1968.


But Nixon’s mind was not on the impending nuptials. Nor was it on the dozens of foreign and domestic disputes that were, at that very moment, threatening to sink his presidency.


He was thinking, as always, about his enemies.


For years, Nixon had been making lists of people who had wronged him. He wrote their names on yellow legal pads, scribbling constantly throughout the day like a madman, then letting those pads pile up around his home and office like old, dirty laundry. By the time he became president, the lists had grown so long that Haldeman, one of Nixon’s designated enforcers in the White House, had to assign a full team of junior staffers just to keep track of them. During their first few years on the job, these aides would send memos back and forth with questions about the various lists and what they meant. They wondered, for instance, whether the people whose names Nixon had written on something called “The Freeze List” were more or less hated than those on the lists simply marked “enemies.”


They rarely got clear answers.


“I’m sure he must have forgotten some of the people who did him wrong,” Haldeman would later recall. “Because there were so many of them and he couldn’t possibly remember all of them. He did have a remarkable ability, though, to keep most of them pretty well-catalogued.”1


The real list, in other words, was in the president’s head, usually somewhere near the top. Given a few minutes of silence, Nixon would often fill the time with lengthy, hateful diatribes about those who had wronged him. The audience mattered little to him; nor did the occasion.


On the morning of his daughter’s wedding, for instance—a day for light and happy thoughts, if there ever was one—Nixon sat fuming. He ranted, according to an account of the morning by Nixon biographer John Farrell, about




a hardy list that included: the “long-haired, dirty looking” protestors; the eastern establishment; feminists; teachers’ union; Jews (“Goddamn, they are a vicious bunch”); African Americans (“We don’t do well with Blacks… We don’t want to do so damn well with Blacks”); the “softies” of the Ivy League; the “ass kissers and butter uppers” in the bureaucracy; and the “lousy, dirty… cowardly bastards” in the press.





After a few more minutes of idle chatter, which covered more and more groups of the president’s enemies, the clouds began to lift. Sun shone in through the large windows in the Oval.


The two men exited the room and took their places for the ceremony.


For the rest of the evening, the event went off without a hitch. The assembled crowd, which included former presidents and many members of Congress, had a wonderful time. Even Richard Nixon, who had never been one to cut loose, danced and drank champagne. Toward the end of the evening, he pulled Lady Bird Johnson, the wife of his predecessor, Lyndon Johnson, out of the crowd and spun her around in circles on the dance floor.


The event was reported in the next day’s newspapers as a roaring success, with the New York Times describing Tricia Nixon as “ethereal” and “beautiful.”2


To a man who had always complained about rough treatment in the press, this should have been a rare bright spot.


But Nixon didn’t seem to notice the article.


Instead, in typical fashion, he spent much of the next morning, a Sunday, in a foul mood. He asked about the press coverage and the guest list—he was angry that several high-profile people hadn’t come—then moved on to the outlets that hadn’t covered the wedding positively. In particular, he singled out the Washington Post, the paper that would ultimately bring about his downfall.


“They’re never to be in the White House again,” he said, speaking to his press secretary. “Never!”3


It was a few minutes after noon when Nixon finally slipped into the Oval Office to call General Alexander Haig, his deputy national security advisor, for an update on the state of the world outside the White House grounds. Toward the end of the call, Nixon learned that on the front page of that morning’s New York Times, right beside the write-up of his daughter’s wedding, was an article that would change the course of the Nixon presidency.


“The goddamn New York Times,” General Haig said, “[ran] an exposé of the most highly classified documents of the war. It was a devastating security breach of the greatest magnitude of anything I’ve ever seen.”4


This series of articles, among the most storied in American journalism, was based on a lengthy study of the Vietnam War that Defense Secretary Robert McNamara had ordered in the late ’60s. Over the years, the series in the Times would reveal that the previous four administrations had not only bungled the war in Vietnam, but had also told bald-faced lies to the American people about how it was going. The leak would come to be known as the “Pentagon Papers.”


Soon, it would be revealed that the source of the leak was Daniel Ellsberg, a former military analyst who was outraged that the American people had been repeatedly lied to about the progress of the war in Vietnam. Ellsberg had come into the Johnson administration straight from Harvard University, witnessing the government decision-making process firsthand. He had spent months photocopying the papers so that he could leak them to the press.


On Monday, June 14, 1971, the day after the first excerpt of the Pentagon Papers ran on the front page of the New York Times, Nixon called a meeting with Attorney General John Mitchell and John Ehrlichman, his domestic policy advisor. Both men were extremely loyal to the president. Mitchell, who had been a partner at Nixon’s law firm before the presidency, would go on to play a major role in many of the “dirty tricks” for which the Nixon administration became infamous. So would John Ehrlichman.


President Nixon ordered Mitchell to stop the Pentagon Papers from being published.


For the next twelve hours or so, the Nixon administration exhausted all legal options to try to stop more excerpts of the report from coming out. But nothing worked. When the Supreme Court decided that the Nixon Justice Department did not, as a matter of law, have the right to stop the Times from publishing, it seemed that the battle was lost. The Nixon administration had played the game fair and square, attempting to stop the leaks by using the machinery of our justice system.


That effort had failed.


So, they began discussing options that were… let’s say, not so legal.


A few days after the administration’s public defeat in the Pentagon Papers case, H. R. Haldeman went to Nixon and let him know that there might be more documents floating around the capital. These documents, according to rumors, were much newer than the ones that had come out during the Pentagon Papers scandal; they might contain negative information not only about Kennedy and Johnson, but about Richard Nixon, too.


Luckily, according to Haldeman, he knew exactly where these documents were: sitting in a safe in the headquarters of the Brookings Institution, which happened to sit in a brand-new complex called the Watergate, just under a mile from the White House.


Leaning back in his chair behind the Resolute Desk, President Nixon began barking at his chief of staff.


“Bob?” he said. “Now, you remember Huston’s plan? I want it implemented on a thievery basis. Goddamn it, go in and get those files. Blow the safe and get it.”


Black Bag Jobs


Throughout his life, Richard Nixon had been willing to attack his enemies—both real and perceived—with uncommon ferocity. But interestingly, he rarely did so in a straightforward manner, and almost never face-to-face.


Instead, he attacked from the sides, using insinuation to make his points. During his first congressional race, which took place in California in 1946, he slyly accused the incumbent congressman, Jerry Voorhis, of being a secret Communist, knowing all the while that the accusation was false.


As Nixon’s career progressed, these roundabout provocations grew to encompass outright spying and other dirty tricks. During that first race against Voorhis, for instance, Nixon listed “set up spies… in V. camp” among his top priorities, writing, as always, on the yellow legal pads that would soon be packed to the margins with the names of his enemies. Years earlier, fresh out of Duke Law School with no job prospects on the horizon, he had even filled out an application to become a special agent at the FBI. But the Bureau, which saw enough promise in the young man to grant him an interview, denied his application, noting (rather amazingly, considering the trajectory his career would take) that Nixon seemed to “lack aggression.”5


Although Nixon never saw these notes, it almost seems as if he spent the rest of his career attempting to prove the FBI’s assessment wrong.


As a young congressman serving on the House Un-American Activities Committee, or HUAC, Nixon went after Communists with an almost evangelical zeal. In one of the most famous episodes of his career, Congressman Nixon managed to prove that Alger Hiss, a former State Department official who had worked at the highest levels of the American government, had in fact been a spy for the Soviet Union the whole time. It was a case full of espionage and intrigue; the hearings, which were televised all day during the summer of 1948, captivated the American public and made Nixon a star.


It was an episode that would serve as the centerpiece of Nixon’s memoir Six Crises, written in the early ’60s and published to great acclaim. For the rest of his career, Nixon would find ways to bring up the Hiss case in conversation, recounting the lessons he’d learned from it. One of the main lessons, oddly enough, was that committing a crime was one thing, but covering it up was what really got you in trouble.


During his time in Congress, Nixon also made the acquaintance of J. Edgar Hoover, the director of the FBI. Later, it would be revealed that Hoover, knowing that Nixon had applied for the Bureau and been rejected, had initiated the relationship, betting that the young Nixon might someday make something of himself. The bet paid off in spades. In time, though, they struck up a genuine friendship, which was somewhat odd considering the two men were not, to say the least, known for their warmth or generosity.


By the time he met Nixon, Hoover had already developed a reputation for ruthlessness and paranoia that would only grow as his career went on. He made even Richard Nixon, the deeply insecure congressman who planted spies in the campaigns of his enemies, look like a normal, well-adjusted American citizen. During his tenure as the director of the FBI, a post he had held since the early twentieth century, Hoover had often used the Bureau as a blunt weapon against his political enemies.


Hoover had used the Bureau to spy on civil rights icon Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr., for instance, making public his extramarital affairs and writing him threatening letters, even going so far as to encourage Dr. King to commit suicide. Hoover had planted listening devices in the homes and offices of countless activists, writers, and politicians. In order to plant these devices, Hoover had ordered agents to break into various buildings. These operations were called “black bag jobs,” named for the small black bags that agents carried during break-ins and bugging operations. They were not remotely legal, so they were kept secret. The black bags, which anyone who’s ever seen a spy movie would recognize, contained all kinds of tools of the espionage trade: wiretaps, lock picks, hammers, headphones, coils of rope, and more.


By the time Nixon won the White House in 1968, he had come to consider J. Edgar Hoover his “closest personal friend in all of public life.”6 Even during his years of exile from Washington—Nixon had lost the presidential election of 1960 to John F. Kennedy, then the race for governor of California in 1962, seemingly ending his political career—Hoover had remained in touch. They often had meetings in Hoover’s house and on his boat. Shortly after Nixon’s victory in 1968, Hoover went to visit him at the Pierre Hotel in New York, where the transition team was based. According to John Ehrlichman, who was usually present during Nixon’s meetings with Hoover, the FBI director was “florid and fat-faced,” adding that he “looked unwell.”7


But, as historian Tim Weiner writes in Enemies: A History of the FBI, “[Hoover’s] powers of speech were undiminished.” The director, according to Weiner’s account, “pointedly reminded Nixon about the powers of surveillance that were at a president’s command.” He spoke about how, at the direction of every president since Franklin Delano Roosevelt, the FBI had carried out operations that included breaking and entering, warrantless wiretapping, and other “black bag jobs.” He reminded the new president that the FBI was, in Weiner’s words, “especially adept at hunting down leakers,” and that “wiretapping was ‘the most effective means’ it had.” This meeting, it seemed, was a kind of offer from the FBI director to the president—one that Richard Nixon, a man who had spent his career carrying out small versions of the operations that the FBI was describing, longing to finally have the FBI and the United States Justice Department at his disposal, was all too happy to accept.


During the first years of his administration, the relationship between Nixon and the FBI prospered. Together, they harassed figures from John Lennon to Muhammad Ali, wiretapping the Black Panthers and other antiwar leaders. Under this partnership, according to Nixon biographer John Farrell, “the military-industrial combine prospered, the state flourished, and the tentacles of surveillance crept through society.”8


But soon the relationship began to sour. Nixon, who was perhaps even more eager than previous presidents to go after his enemies for personal and political reasons, repeatedly asked the FBI to go further and further in its surveillance and harassment of antiwar protestors. But Hoover, after over four decades at the helm of the FBI, was a little more cautious. A few years earlier, in 1965, he had been forced to endure a painful airing-out of the FBI’s dirty laundry during several Senate hearings on the matter, after which he swore off some of the more extreme “black bag jobs” he had been carrying out for decades. More than once, Nixon and his aides complained that the intelligence they were getting from the FBI was weak, sloppy, and shoddily written.


Outside the White House, the political situation was growing dire. In the late ’60s and early ’70s, hundreds of thousands of people had filled the streets in protest of the war in Vietnam. Some of these demonstrations became violent, and many of them ended in skirmishes between protestors and counter-protestors. In a memo to the president, then-speechwriter Pat Buchanan wrote that the administration was now “in a contest over the soul of the country,” and that the White House needed to engage in “heated political warfare” as a response.9


Clearly, they believed something needed to be done—and quickly.


In the early summer of 1970, a young White House aide named Tom Huston rose to the occasion. Over a few days, Huston drafted a plan designed to spring the FBI, the Justice Department, and even the CIA—which was legally forbidden from engaging in covert activities on American soil—into action against anti-Nixon forces in the United States. Due to the extreme political situation of the time, Huston suggested, the FBI needed to revive its “black bag jobs” and other illegal clandestine activities, including the surveillance of mail. The plan is a fascinating document, especially to modern readers, not least because its author, who had once been described by a superior as “intense and cadaverous,” repeatedly acknowledged in plain language that his recommendations were illegal.10


“Present procedures should be changed,” he wrote, “to permit intensification of coverage of individuals and groups in the United States who pose a major threat to the internal security…. Covert coverage [of the U.S. mail] is illegal and there are serious risks involved. However, the advantages to be derived from its use outweigh the risks.”11


The plan also recommended a technique that the author refers to (in an extreme feat of understatement, considering the circumstances), as “surreptitious entry.” In a section under this heading, Huston calls for “selective use of this technique against other urgent and high priority internal security targets.” Again, he admits that “use of this technique is clearly illegal: it amounts to burglary. It is also highly risky and could result in great embarrassment if exposed. However, it is also the most fruitful and can produce the type of intelligence which cannot be obtained in any other fashion. The FBI in Mr. Hoover’s younger days used to conduct such operations with great success and with no exposure.”


When Tom Huston presented this plan to the heads of our nation’s intelligence community in J. Edgar Hoover’s office, everyone but the director of the FBI agreed to sign off on it. Hoover, however, flew into a rage upon hearing what the young Nixon aide had to say. Over the next few days, he got together with John Mitchell, the attorney general, to make sure that the plan would never be implemented. Even though Richard Nixon himself approved the Huston plan—and, by all accounts, was thrilled with it—Mitchell revoked it, citing Director Hoover’s unwillingness to get back into the dirty business of widespread warrantless wiretapping, spying, and breaking and entering.


Nixon had asked the FBI to act as his enforcers, effectively taking Hoover up on the offer that he had made during the transition just a few years earlier, and the FBI director had refused. In many ways, this was the beginning of the end of J. Edgar Hoover. Soon after the Huston plan debacle, Nixon began looking for replacements within the Bureau for him—which wasn’t a big step, given that Hoover, then seventy-five, was well past the mandatory retirement age. The relationship between the two men, which had remained strong through the darkest periods of their lives, would never recover. Although the FBI would carry out several surveillance operations for the Nixon White House in the years to come, the intelligence was never quite as reliable as Nixon would have liked.


The Huston plan, as the journalist Garrett M. Graff writes in his recent one-volume history of Watergate, titled Watergate: A New History, ended up on the desk of John Dean, a young aide who had just been hired as the White House counsel. When Tom Huston left the White House, the newly hired Dean inherited some of his duties, including the dirty tricks he’d performed for Richard Nixon.


“Dean placed [the Huston plan] in a safe,” Graff writes, “where it sat like a time bomb, evidence that the Nixon White House repeatedly—and dubiously—explored the limits of legal activities aimed at its political opponents. As Senator Richard Schweiker would say years later: ‘Even though the Huston plan was dead, I believe it had nine lives.’ ”


All the President’s Goons


As the fallout from the Pentagon Papers case continued, Richard Nixon grew increasingly desperate. The FBI, which had long served as a one-stop shop for the kind of dirty tricks he wanted to carry out, had rebuffed him in stunning fashion. Nixon believed, and not without reason, that with the Vietnam War still raging and the possibility of documents that detailed his failures sitting in a safe at the Brookings Institution, he would almost certainly lose the presidential election of 1972.


Having already given the order to “blow the safe” and recover the documents from the Brookings Institution—documents that, strangely, would turn out never to have existed—Nixon turned to a man named Chuck Colson, known around the White House as a tough loose cannon, willing to take on the dirty jobs that most political aides wouldn’t do. A hard-driving lawyer who once boasted, according to his obituary in the New York Times, that he would “walk over his own grandmother” to get Nixon reelected in 1972, Colson had a tendency to whip his boss into a frenzy, playing to the darker side of his personality. Once, according to Nixon biographer John Farrell, when Attorney General John Mitchell was asked what Chuck Colson’s constituency was, he replied, “The president’s worst instincts.”12


Within a few days, Colson got together with a few associates and came up with a plan which, even against the backdrop of the Watergate scandal, still seems too insane to be true. At some point in the next few days, Colson said, he would have one of his White House associates break into the Brookings Institution in the Watergate building and start a fire. Then, amid the panic and chaos that was sure to ensue, he would break into the office, crack the safe, and run away with the documents.


When John Dean, the new White House counsel, learned of this plan, he was rightly alarmed—so alarmed, in fact, that he flew out to California immediately, where President Nixon was staying at the six-acre ranch in San Clemente that he called the “Western White House.” Standing on the deck, Dean reminded the president that, first of all, starting such a fire would be a felony. Secondly, he said, if anyone died in the blaze, Richard Nixon, the president of the United States, would legally be able to be charged with murder. At Dean’s urging, Nixon abandoned that particular plan, telling Colson to wait around for another assignment.


It didn’t take long for one to appear—or, rather, for several to appear. Given his paranoia, Nixon was never short on work for the crazy amateur spies who had come to populate the White House. Repeatedly, he made himself quite clear about the type of “tough guys” he needed to carry out the operations.


“I really need a son of a bitch like Huston,” he said on August 1, “who will work his butt off and do it dishonorably…. I’ll direct him myself.”13


He ended up with several. One of them was a retired CIA operative named Howard Hunt, a slight, unassuming man who worked for a PR agency and wrote spy novels on the side. Oddly enough, he seemed to have been present for some of the CIA’s most embarrassing episodes, including the disastrous Bay of Pigs invasion that had taken place in Cuba under President Kennedy. But Colson, who had somehow managed to become Nixon’s most trusted man when it came to dirty tricks, believed that Hunt was the man for the job. President Nixon agreed, and Hunt was hired.


For a few months, Hunt kicked around and did minor jobs for the president, failing at every turn. When he was tasked with trying to find dirt on John F. Kennedy in the government’s secret files, for instance, he failed miserably. But that didn’t stop him from forging documents ostensibly from the State Department and leaking them to Life magazine.


Around the same time, when President Nixon found out that J. Edgar Hoover had been intentionally slow-rolling the FBI’s investigation into Daniel Ellsberg, he demanded that the job be brought in-house. Once again, law enforcement had refused his most aggressive requests, and he was going to take matters into his own hands.


“I need a man,” he said, venting in the White House to Chuck Colson, John Ehrlichman, and H. R. Haldeman. “A commander. An officer in charge here at the White House that I can call when I wake up, as I did last night, at two o’clock in the morning and I can say I want to do this, this, and this… a guy, also who will have the initiative to go out and do a few of these things.”14


Naturally, the job fell to men like Howard Hunt. But by this point, he was no longer alone. Over the course of a few months that summer, President Nixon and his aides had formed a group called the Special Investigations Unit, originally intended to hunt down leaks and stop them, especially when the intelligence community wasn’t acting quickly enough. The two men in charge of this unit, David Young and Egil Krogh, would soon become major figures on the national stage, along with just about everyone else who came through the basement office of the Executive Office Building where the unit made their plans and carried out their operations.


The group’s mandate was simple: attack the president’s enemies; do it by any means necessary. They had almost unlimited funds—organized by laundering campaign money through various people, both suspecting and unsuspecting—and they had the full resources of the executive branch. What they didn’t have was any idea what they were doing. For the “expertise” in espionage that they lacked, the group hired a man whose name would soon become famous the world over, splashed across the pages of the Washington Post under one of the most famous bylines in the history of American journalism.


For several years, G. Gordon Liddy had been an FBI agent, learning the skills of espionage under J. Edgar Hoover himself. After leaving the FBI, Liddy became a prosecutor, but could never seem to let go of his obsession—one that often seemed comical to those around him—with dirty tricks and the craft of spying. He also had a tendency to act out. Once, using prosecutorial methods that he would later describe as “unorthodox but effective,” Liddy fired a gun at the ceiling of a courtroom during his closing argument, believing that showing the jury how the alleged murder weapon worked would be better than simply telling them.15 (To any aspiring lawyers who might be reading this, please know that the chances of success with this approach are slim, to say the least.) Around the same time, Liddy was also fond of bragging that he could “hold his hand over a flame without flinching.” He also “claimed to be able to kill a man with a pencil.”16


It should go without saying that by the time Liddy joined the Special Investigations Unit, the Treasury Department—where he had been working as a special assistant for guns and narcotics—was more than happy to see him go.


“I was under no illusion about… legality,” Liddy would later write in his memoir. “Although spies in the enemy camp and electronic surveillance were nothing new in American presidential politics, we were going to go far beyond that. As far as I was concerned, anything went.”17


For the next few months, Howard Hunt and G. Gordon Liddy embarked on the kind of demolition derby that you don’t usually see outside of screwball comedy films. Short of lighting themselves on fire, I’m not sure they could have messed things up any more than they actually did. As their first trick, having already asked the CIA to write them a fake psychological profile of Daniel Ellsberg—by this point, the main objective was to prove that Ellsberg was insane, and therefore not trustworthy—they decided to break into the office of Ellsberg’s actual psychiatrist, which was in California, and search for incriminating files themselves.


During a scouting trip, Hunt took a photograph of Liddy posing outside the building. They were both wearing CIA disguises, and Hunt took the picture using a CIA camera. Then, a few days later, they brought the film to the CIA to get it developed, and they made copies, which they placed in the White House’s files. When it was finally time for the break-in, they enlisted a group of Cubans that Hunt had met during the botched Bay of Pigs invasion, broke in, and ransacked the office. The plan, according to their later testimony, was to make the whole thing look like a run-of-the-mill, drug-related crime. The plan failed. They did not find the files they were looking for, returning home having done nothing but destroy a poor shrink’s office and leave a whole lot of incriminating evidence in their wake.


In the Oval Office a few days later, John Ehrlichman told Nixon, “We had one little operation. It’s been aborted out in Los Angeles, which, I think, it is better that you don’t know about. But we’ve got some dirty tricks under way.”18


The other dirty tricks, as it turned out, were legion. Just a few months earlier, in the fall of 1971, G. Gordon Liddy had given a presentation to Attorney General John Mitchell, complete with charts and graphs prepared by the CIA, about something he called Operation GEMSTONE.


Again, the details defy belief.


The plan, such as it was, was a collection of several smaller plans, all named after different gemstones: RUBY, EMERALD, QUARTZ, SAPPHIRE, and so on. One of these plans called for a specialized high-tech government airplane that would follow Democratic candidates around the country during their campaigns and record their conversations. Another plan involved hiring mobsters to grab anti-Nixon protestors off the street, pump them full of drugs, and fly them down to Mexico for a few days so they could cool off. There were plans to plant spies in enemy campaigns, to hire prostitutes to seduce high-ranking members of the Democratic Party on a houseboat, and, of course, to break into various buildings around the country. One gets the feeling that Liddy, who seemed to take the opportunity to put all his wildest spy-novel fantasies down on paper, only stopped writing when he ran out of gemstones to name the operations after.


The attorney general objected to this approach, but not because he thought there was anything especially wrong with drugging, kidnapping, or prostitution. He just thought that the plan, which carried a price tag of about one million dollars, was too expensive. He ended the meeting by telling Liddy to cut some of the expenses and come back.
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